IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC01-37

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

VS.

KEVIN KINDER,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General

RICHARD L. POLIN Florida Bar No. 0230987 Assistant Attorney General Office of the Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs 444 Brickell Avenue, Suite 950 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-5441 (305) 377-5655 (fax)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On September 3, 1999, the State filed a petition for civil commitment. (Petitioner's Appendix A-4).¹ This petition sought the involuntary civil commitment of Kinder, pursuant to sections 394.910, et seq., Florida Statutes (1999), Florida's sexually violent predators act, which went into effect on January 1, 1999. The petition alleged that Kinder had three prior convictions for sexually violent offenses; that he was serving a prison sentence with the Department of Corrections, with a scheduled release date of September 3, 1999; that he had a mental abnormality or personality disorder, among others); and that the mental abnormality or personality disorder made it likely that Kinder would engage in acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility for long term control, care and treatment. (Pet. App. A-4). The petition further alleged that two psychologists had evaluated Kinder and concluded that he satisfied the criteria for involuntary civil

¹ Due to the expedited briefing schedule in the instant case, the Clerk of the District Court of Appeal has not yet prepared or transmitted a record on appeal. Furthermore, since the proceeding in the District Court of Appeal was an original writ proceeding, there was no record on appeal from the trial court. The primary trial court documents upon which the District Court of Appeal relied were contained in the Appendix to the Petition for Writ of Prohibition and the Appendix to Response to Petition for Writ of Prohibition, both of which were filed in the lower court. Due to the absence of any current record on appeal or index thereto, the State of Florida, in this Brief, is referring to the primary pleadings in the manner in which they were referenced in the lower court proceeding.

commitment under the sexually violent predators act. Id.

Pursuant to the commitment petition and its attachments, the Circuit Court, on September 3, 1999, entered an ex parte order finding that probable cause existed that Kinder was a sexually violent predator, and further ordered that the Department of Corrections transfer Kinder to the custody of the Department of Children and Families, to be held in an appropriate secure facility pending the commitment proceedings. (Pet. App. A-5). The order further directed the Clerk of the Circuit Court to notify the Public Defender's Office of the date, time and place of the "status review and determination of indigence hearing," for the purpose of determining whether the Public Defender would be appointed to represent Kinder. <u>Id</u>.

The status review/indigence hearing was set for September 21, 1999. (Pet. App. A-9, p. 11). However, due to an approaching hurricane on that date, the court was closed, and the initial hearing, at which time counsel would have been appointed, and a trial date set or continued, was not held, due to the closure of the court. Through an apparent oversight, a hearing on the case was not promptly rescheduled, and, when the State Attorney's Office realized this, on October 12, 1999, that office contacted the judge's judicial assistant, and obtained the date of October 18, 1999, for the initial

hearing in the case. (Pet. App. A-9, pp. 11-12).

On October 20, 1999, Kinder, represented by the Office of the Public Defender, filed a Motion to Dismiss, arguing that the failure to conduct a trial on the commitment case within 30 days required the dismissal of the case. (Pet. App. A- 8). A hearing was held on that motion on October 21, 1999. (Pet. App. A-9). At that hearing, an assistant state attorney represented the above facts, regarding the cancellation of the September 21st status hearing date due to the hurricane, and the rescheduling of the initial hearing between October 12th and October 18th. Id. at pp. 11-12. The trial court, after hearing argument from the parties, deferred ruling. On or about October 25, 1999, the State filed a Response to the Motion to Dismiss. (Pet. App. A-11).

On January 7, 2000, the lower court entered a written order denying the motion to dismiss. (Pet. App. A-10). After setting forth the above facts, and citing relevant provisions from the commitment statute and the rules of civil procedure, the order provided:

... The Court does not believe that the legislature, by its enactment of Section 394.916(1), established a per-se rule mandating the sanction of dismissal in the event of non-compliance with the time limitation. Nor does it appear

that the legislature intend to deprive a trial court of authority to exercise its discretion in granting relief in the most effective manner to enforce statutory created rights. "It has long been the public policy of Florida that litigation should, whenever possible, be resolved on the merits rather than on the basis of a procedural default." Coon Clothing Co., Inc. v. Eggers, 560 So. 2d 1357 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990). "Dismissal is an extreme sanction and should only be imposed as a last resort." Id. at 1358. Furthermore, the 30day time-limitation prescribed in Section 396.916(1) cannot be equated to a statute of limitations set forth in Section 95.11 (1999) (setting time-limitations on various civil In the present case, Respondent has not actions). demonstrated irreparable prejudice resulting from the delay, nor does Respondent show that the sanction of dismissal is the only viable remedy under the circumstance. Accordingly, dismissal of the present action is not warranted.

(Pet. App. A-10, pp. 3-4).

Approximately two months after the entry of the trial court's order, Kinder filed a petition for writ of prohibition in the Second District Court of Appeal, and, upon entry of an order directing the State to respond, the State filed a response. Both of those pleadings were accompanied by appendixes which included the relevant trial court pleadings and transcripts.

On July 7, 2000, the District Court of Appeal issued its opinion. The Court concluded that the 30-day time limit for trial, set forth in the sexually violent predators

act, was mandatory, as it referred to the possible deprivation of a substantive right. The Court rejected the State's arguments that the time limit was directory; that the statutory time period conflicted with the rules of civil procedure and that the civil rules should control as to a procedural matter; and other arguments as well. As to the remedy, however, the Court declined to direct that the trial court proceedings be dismissed. Instead, the Court directed that Kinder immediately be released from his confinement by the Department of Children and Families while his commitment trial was still pending in the trial court:

> The Act provides no remedy for this violation. Kinder argues that the thirty-day time limit should be construed as jurisdictional, the expiration of which divests the trial court of authority to proceed. We disagree. However, because, in this case, we have construed the time limit to be a statutory right, the only remedy that will adequately redress this violation is the release of the detainee. [FN. 2] We, therefore, grant Kinder's petition to the extent that it seeks his release from confinement and direct the trial court to order Kinder's immediate release.

> [FN. 2] Because it is not yet properly before us, we decline at this time to address whether the Act permits the State to continue the commitment proceeding against Kinder on the originally filed petition.

. . .

(App. 1-2).²

² App. refers to the Appendix to this Brief.

Subsequent to the foregoing opinion, the State timely filed a Motion for Rehearing and/or Motion for Certification of Question of Great Public Importance, and a separate Motion for Rehearing En Banc. In those pleadings, the State argued, inter alia, that the remedy which the District Court of Appeal created (1) was expressly prohibited by statutory provisions; and (2) was a remedy which Kinder himself had never requested.

The State also filed a separate Motion for Stay Pending Rehearing, in which the State sought to stay Kinder's "immediate release" pending consideration of the rehearing motions. The District Court of Appeal granted that motion for stay.

Kinder filed a separate Emergency Motion for Stay Pending Rehearing, in which Kinder apprised the lower court that the trial court had scheduled the commitment trial for August 14, 2000. Kinder sought to bar the trial court from conducting the trial while the rehearing motions were pending in the appellate court. The State filed a response to that motion, pointing out that the appellate court's opinion did not preclude the trial court proceedings from continuing, and further pointing out that the ability to conduct a prompt trial, while the rehearing motions were pending, would avoid the prospect of the release of an individual whom the trial court, through the entry of a probable cause order, had found to probably be a sexually violent predator in need of civil commitment. The appellate court denied Kinder's motion to stay the trial court proceedings pending rehearing.

On December 8, 2000, the District Court of Appeal denied the State's motions for rehearing and rehearing en banc. <u>Kinder v. State</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D2821 (Fla. 2d DCA Dec. 8, 2000) (App. 3). The Court, however, reissued and revised its opinion, granting the State's request to certify a question of great public importance, and the Court certified the following question:

> WHETHER THE FAILURE TO COMMENCE A COMMITMENT TRIAL WITHIN THE 30-DAY PERIOD OF SECTION 394.916(1), FLORIDA STATUTES (1999), ABSENT A PRIOR CONTINUANCE FOR GOOD CAUSE, AUTHORIZES THE RELEASE OF THE DETAINED INDIVIDUAL, WHEN THE COMMITMENT CASE HAS NOT BEEN DISMISSED, AND THE TRIAL COURT HAS PREVIOUSLY MADE AN EX PARTE DETERMINATION THAT THERE IS PROBABLE CAUSE TO BELIEVE THAT THE INDIVIDUAL IS A SEXUALLY VIOLENT PREDATOR IN NEED OF COMMITMENT.

25 Fla. L. Weekly at D2822 (App. 4). The Court's opinion also includes a request that

this Court adopt rules of procedure designed to deal with problems arising with

respect to the implementation of the sexually violent predators act. Id.

The State thereafter filed its Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction, commencing the instant proceeding. During the pendency of the rehearing motions, the commitment case did proceed to trial (as noted in the lower court's order on rehearing [App. 3]), and the resulting commitment of Kinder, pursuant to the commitment verdict and judgment, is currently the subject of a pending appeal in the Second District Court of Appeal.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The lower court erred in holding that the failure to proceed to trial in accordance with the statutory 30-day trial period of the sexually violent predators act requires the immediate release of the alleged predator from the custodial confinement of the State. Insofar as the commitment trial proceedings remained pending, the legislature has expressly repudiated this remedy, by stating, in the relevant statutory provisions, that subsequent to the entry of an order finding probable cause that the person is a sexually violent predator, the person must be held in secure confinement until the commitment trial is held. Additionally, the statutory provision should be deemed directory, not mandatory, based upon a consideration of the legislative purposes, the lack of any substantive right of the alleged predator, and the failure of the legislature to specify any remedy for a violation of the statute. The First District Court of Appeal, in State v. Reese, infra, has expressly rejected the conclusions of the Second District in this case, and the First District has reached the correct conclusion the 30-day trial period set forth in the statute is directory, not mandatory. Any contrary conclusion would mean that the legislature was improperly intruding into the domain of this Court's rule-making capacity, as the setting of a trial period is a matter of judicial procedure.

ARGUMENT

THE FAILURE TO COMMENCE A COMMITMENT TRIAL WITHIN THE 30-DAY PERIOD OF SECTION 394.916(1), FLORIDA STATUTES (1999), ABSENT A PRIOR CONTINUANCE FOR GOOD CAUSE, DOES NOT AUTHORIZE THE RELEASE OF THE DETAINED INDIVIDUAL, WHEN THE COMMITMENT CASE HAS NOT BEEN DISMISSED, AND THE TRIAL COURT HAS PREVIOUSLY MADE AN EX PARTE DETERMINATION THAT THERE IS PROBABLE CAUSE TO BELIEVE THAT THE INDIVIDUAL IS A SEXUALLY VIOLENT PREDATOR.

In fashioning the remedy of the "immediate release" of Kinder pending further commitment proceedings in the trial court, the District Court of Appeal erred in concluding that the statutory 30-day trial period under the commitment act is a mandatory, substantive right of the individual against whom the State is proceeding. That remedy is expressly repudiated by the other provisions of the Act, and it is inconsistent with the entire purpose and structure of the Act. It is also a remedy which was never requested by Kinder. The First District Court of Appeal, in <u>State v. Reese</u>, 26 Fla. L. Weekly D38 (Fla. 1st DCA Dec. 20, 2000), has recently considered the identical issue and has expressly disagreed with the Second District's analysis in <u>Kinder</u>. Based on the ensuing arguments herein, it will be seen that neither "immediate release" nor dismissal of the commitment case would be an appropriate remedy.

With respect to the concept of "immediate release" as a remedy for noncompliance with the 30-day trial period, the State would initially note that it is a remedy which the legislature has expressly repudiated. Section 394.915(5), Florida Statutes (1999), expressly forbids any form of release pending trial, after a probable cause order has been entered:

> After a court finds probable cause to believe that the person is a sexually violent predator, <u>the person must be held in</u> <u>custody</u> in a secure facility without opportunity for pretrial release or release during the trial proceedings.

(emphasis added). Such probable cause was found in the instant case. (Kinder's Appendix to Petition for Writ of Prohibition, A-5). As that probable cause determination reflects the likelihood that the individual has a mental abnormality or personality disorder which renders the person dangerous - i.e., likely to engage in further acts of sexual violence if not committed for care, control and treatment - the remedy of "immediate release" is clearly contrary to the purpose of the Act as well.

The Second District's analysis further proceeds from the notion that the 30-day trial period under the statute is a "substantive" right of the respondent in the trial court proceedings. (App. 4). As will be seen in the subsequent discussion of the statutory scheme, that conclusion is erroneous. Under the scheme created by the legislature, it is intended that Department of Corrections prisoners be evaluated for potential civil

commitment at the conclusion of the prison sentence.³ The evaluation is to commence approximately one year prior to the conclusion of the prison sentence, and that evaluation is expected, by the legislature, to be completed within 45 days, with recommendations to the State Attorney as to any need for civil commitment proceedings. It is thus envisioned that the State Attorney will have the needed information and ability to file commitment petitions approximately 9-10 months prior to the end of the person's prison sentence. With a statutory-30 day trial period being the norm envisioned by the legislature, it is clear that the legislature hoped that most, if not all, commitment trials would be completed well within the last 9 months of the prison sentence. Thus, if the case does not proceed to trial within the initial 30-day period, as envisioned by the legislature, the respondent in the trial court will still be incarcerated with the Department of Corrections, as he will be if the case does not proceed to trial within a second 30-day period or, indeed, during the next six or seven 30-day periods. Very simply, as envisioned by the legislature, regardless of whether the case proceeds to trial within the statutory 30-day period, a violation of that period would not have any substantive effect on the respondent, as the respondent is not going anywhere, with several months still remaining to be served on the concluding DOC prison sentence.

³ This summary is detailed, with full statutory references, at pp. 13-16, <u>infra</u>.

Under such circumstances, the statutory 30-day trial period does not confer any "substantive" rights on the respondent in the trial court proceedings. As will be further detailed herein, the goal of the legislative 30-day trial period is twofold: first, it protects the public against any possibility of release of a mentally abnormal and dangerous person at the conclusion of that person's prison sentence; and, second, it eliminates the need for costly and time consuming adversarial/evidentiary probable cause hearings in the trial court, which can be triggered by the failure to proceed to trial within the initial 30-day period. Neither of these purposes is for the benefit of the respondent in the trial court proceedings. Those purposes are inconsistent with the creation of a substantive right on the part of the trial court respondent.

A. Statutory Background

The sexually violent predators act became effective January 1, 1999, section 916.31, et seq., Florida Statutes (Supp. 1998), and was amended, and moved to chapter 394, section 394.910, et seq., Florida Statutes (1999), effective May 26, 1999. The essence of the act is that the State may seek the involuntary civil commitment of qualifying individuals, who have a prior conviction for a sexually violent offense, who have a mental abnormality or personality disorder, and who, as a result of that mental abnormality or personality disorder are likely to commit further sexually violent

offenses if not confined for long-term care, control and treatment. The commitment proceedings are <u>civil</u> commitment proceedings; they are not criminal cases.⁴

Evaluation of potential sexually violent predators commences approximately one year prior to the end of the individual's confinement in a Department of Corrections prison. Section 394.913, Florida Statutes. After the evaluation is done by a multidisciplinary team created by the Department of Children and Families, which will typically involve a full clinical evaluation by one or more psychologists or psychiatrists, a recommendation is made to the State Attorney who prosecuted the most recent conviction for a sexually violent offense. Section 394.913, Florida Statutes (1999). The State Attorney then evaluates the case and determines whether to file a commitment petition. Section 394.914, Florida Statutes (1999).

⁴ Section 394.910, Florida Statutes (1999), refers to the proceedings as "civil commitment" proceedings. Section 394.915(1), Florida Statutes (1999), provides that the proceedings are governed by the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure unless otherwise specified in the sexually violent predators act. The Supreme Court of the United States, in rejecting double jeopardy and ex post facto attacks on the Kansas sexually violent predators act, which is very similar to Florida's, has concluded that the commitment proceedings are not criminal in nature; they are remedial and non-punitive. Kansas v. Hendricks, 521 U.S. 346, 117 S.Ct. 2072, 138 L.Ed. 2d 501 (1997). The Fourth District Court of Appeal, in finding that there was no entitlement to bail in these commitment cases, has similarly concluded that they are civil, not criminal, in nature. <u>Valdez v. Moore</u>, 745 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999). The Fifth District has similarly concluded that the proceedings are civil in nature. <u>Westerheide v. State</u>, 767 So. 2d 637 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000), rev. granted and pending.

Upon the filing of the commitment petition, the trial court must make an initial, ex parte, determination of whether there is probable cause to proceed with the case. Section 394.915(1), Florida Statutes. This, as in the instant case, is typically done on the day that the petition is filed. The respondent, at that time, is typically still completing a prior Department of Corrections prison sentence, and may have anywhere from a few days or weeks to several months remaining on the prison sentence. If the court finds that probable cause exists, the court directs that the person, upon completion of the DOC prison sentence, be transferred to the custody of the Department of Children and Families, and be held in an appropriate secure facility pending the commitment proceedings. Section 394.915, Florida Statutes (1999).

Section 394.916, Florida Statutes (1999), addresses the subsequent trial:

(1) Within 30 days after the determination of probable cause, the court shall conduct a trial to determine whether the person is a sexually violent predator.

(2) The trial may be continued upon the request of either party and a showing of good cause, or by the court on its own motion in the interests of justice, when the person will not be substantially prejudiced.

The Act further provides that indigent persons shall be represented by the Office of the Public Defender. Section 394.916(3), Florida Statutes (1999). In the event that the case does not proceed to trial within 30 days, the statute provides for an additional

adversarial probable cause hearing:

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