IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC01-37

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

VS.

KEVIN KINDER,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Julianne M. Holt Public Defender Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

Jeanine Cohen John Skye Assistant Public Defenders 801 E Twiggs Street, 5th Floor Tampa, Florida 33602 (813)277-1571; (813) 307-4301 (813) 272-5588 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

⁵ The final paragraph of section 394.913, Fla. Stat. (1999) states: "The provisions of this section are not jurisdictional, and failure to comply with them in no way prevents the state attorney from proceeding against a person otherwise subject to the provisions of this part."

⁶ Chapter 99-222, § 7, Laws of Florida, see Resp. App. 28.

⁷ Section 394.9135(4), Fla. Stat.(1999) states: "The provisions of this section are not jurisdictional, and failure to comply with the time limitations, which results in the release of a person who has been convicted of a sexually violent offense, is not dispositive of the case and does not prevent the state attorney from proceeding against a person otherwise subject to the provisions of this part."

914 (Fla. 1995); Beach v. Great Western Bank, 692 So. 2d 146, 152 (Fla. 1997). Likewise when a law expressly describes a particular situation in which something should apply, an inference must be drawn that what is not included by specific reference was intended to be omitted or excluded. Gay v. Singletary, 700 So. 2d 1220, 1221 (Fla. 1997). Therefore the only reasonable interpretation - if any "interpretation" is permitted ¹⁰ - is that the Legislature intended the 30 day trial time limit of section 394.916(1) ("Within 30 days after the determination of probable cause, the court *shall* conduct a trial ...) to be mandatory and jurisdictional.

Although to date no Florida appellate court has directly addressed this issue

⁸ "When the legislature has used a term, as it has here, in one section of the statute but omits it in another section of the same statute, we will not imply it where it has been excluded. See Florida State Racing Comm'n v. Bourquardez, 42 So. 2d 87 (Fla. 1949); accord Ocasio v. Bureau of Crimes Compensation, 408 So. 2d 751 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982)."

⁹ "As a general rule, '[w]here Congress includes particular language in one section of a statute but omits it in another section of the same Act, it is generally presumed that Congress acts intentionally and purposely in the disparate inclusion or exclusion.' <u>Russello v. United States</u>, 464 U.S. 16, 23, 104 S.Ct. 296, 300, 78 L.Ed.2d 17 (1983)."

¹⁰ Only when a statute is of doubtful meaning should matters extrinsic to the statute be considered in construing the language employed by the legislature. <u>See Florida State Racing Comm'n v. McLaughlin</u>, 102 So. 2d 574, 576 (Fla. 1958) and other cases cited in Section II, pp. 22-28, <u>infra</u>.

with respect to section 394.916(1),¹¹ the Kansas case of <u>In re Brown</u>, 978 P.2d 300 (Ct. App. Kan. 1999) has done so in "interpreting" the comparable section of the Kansas Act.¹²

Brown's holding furnishes especially strong and persuasive authority for both the Respondent's position and the reasoning of the lower court, not only because it definitively rules on the identical issue (involving a virtually identical statutory provision, see n.12, supra), but also because Florida's Act was modeled upon and patterned after the Kansas Act.

In <u>Kinder v. State</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D1637 (Fla. 2d DCA July 7, 2000), the court held that the 30 day time limit of section 394.916(1) is mandatory and a statutory right, without directly addressing the issue of whether said statute is jurisdictional. The <u>Kinder</u> panel commented on jurisdiction as follows: "Kinder argues that the thirty-day time limit should be construed as jurisdictional, the expiration of which divests the trial court of authority to proceed. We disagree." [Footnote 2:] "Because it is not yet properly before us, we decline at this time to address whether the Act permits the State to continue the commitment proceeding against Kinder on the originally filed petition."

¹² Kansas Statute § 59-29a06 (1995) provides (and so provided in Kansas' original 1994 law), in pertinent part, that: "Within 60 days after the [determination of probable cause], the court shall conduct a trial to determine whether the person is a sexually violent predator."

Section 394.916(1), Fla. Stat., reads (*and* when originally enacted as section 916.36(1) in Laws of Florida Chapter 98-64, § 8 read): "Within 30 days after the determination of probable cause, the court shall conduct a trial to determine whether the person is a sexually violent predator."

The Florida Act originated in the Florida House of Representatives in 1998 as House Bill 3327, sponsored by Representative J. Alex Villalobos. Comments at a hearing on 26 March 1998 before the Health & Human Services Appropriations Committee, a complete transcript of which is found in **Resp. App. 29** indicates that the original, 1998 "Jimmy Ryce" legislation, was closely modeled on the Kansas Statute. Thus:

REPRESENTATIVE VILLALOBOS: We are calculating \$30,000 per year, per client and that is based on the numbers that we have out of Kansas. We have included a little bit higher amount for Florida since things, obviously, cost a little bit more in Florida than they do in Kansas.

But we're basing that on the law that Kansas did. We're trying to mirror that.... (Page 9, lines 18 - 24).

In the first place, to alleviate the members' concerns about lawsuits and particularly the Department's concerns about these numbers, we are based on the Kansas law which happened to have gone all the way to the United States Supreme Court. ¹³ And based on what Kansas has done which is what we are trying to mirror, that is constitutional. (Page 29,

I'm basing my numbers on what Kansas has done and *that's what this law is based on.* (Page 30, lines 13 - 15).

....

lines 10 -16). (Footnote added.)

¹³ <u>Kansas v. Hendricks</u>, 521 U.S. 346, 117 S.Ct. 2072, 138 L.Ed.2d 501 (1997), which held that the original Kansas Act did not violate the federal constitutional guarantees of due process, double jeopardy and ex post facto.

CHAIRMAN SANDERSON: As far as it being in our committee as a – as a fiscal respondent to the policy, *this is patterned after the law in Kansas as I understand it....* (Page 39, lines 14 - 16).

. . . .

MRS. RYCE: It was paralleled closely on the Kansas Act and we did that because that's already been found constitutional. It's passed constitutional muster and we won't have to worry about it. Everybody's getting their rights considered. (Page 41, lines 20 - 23).

...

MR. RYCE: And then I'd like to make one final comment. I apologize but fiscal issues alone are not the reason for this bill. We thought long and hard before we asked that Jimmy's name be put to a piece of legislation. And the reason why this legislation qualified is first of all, we know that it's constitutional because Kansas already went through that battle for us. (Page 46, lines 19 - 25).

(All emphasis added.)

Thereafter, the Final Bill Research and Economic Impact Statement, CS/HB 3327, dated 26 May 1998 (Resp. App. 30) concerning the legislation being discussed at this hearing, the original "Jimmy Ryce Involuntary Civil Commitment for Sexually Violent Predators' Treatment and Care Act," was prepared by the staff of the Florida House of Representatives Committee on Family Law and Children.

In section III. A., Constitutional Issues, this Statement discusses the Kansas Act and the fact the United States Supreme Court's decision in Kansas v. Hendricks, supra, relied, *inter alia* on the Kansas Act's "strict procedural safeguards." (Resp. App. 30, p. 5).

In the following section, III. B., Effect of Proposed Changes, the Statement compares 14 of the 24 sections of the bill to similar or identical sections of the Kansas statute. (Resp. App. 30, pp. 5-10).

The Statement contains no reference to or discussion of the statutes of any other state throughout its entire 20 pages.

With respect to the provisions of section 916.36 (renumbered as 394.916 by Chapter 99-222, § 11, but otherwise reenacted in its identical, original form, see Resp. App. 28, p. 10), the May 26, 1998 Impact Statement, in section III. B., Effect of Proposed Changes, Section 8, also specifically states that section 916.36 (now 394.916): "Requires the court to conduct a trial within 30 days of the determination of probable cause." (Resp. App. 30, p. 6). Again, in section III. E., Section-By-Section Research, Section 8, it states that the Act "creates s. 916.36, F.S. requiring the court to conduct a trial within 30 days of the determination of probable cause ." (Resp. App. 30, p. 14).

Nothing in the legislative history cited by the State, ¹⁴ suggests that the 1999 amendments to the Act (see Resp. App. 28) were intended to change the original legislative intent in this regard. In fact, this 1999 Senate Staff Analysis continues to

¹⁴ Senate Staff Analysis and Economic Impact Statement of the Committee on Children and Families, CS/SB 2192 (March 30, 1999), cited in the State's Initial Brief on the Merits at 17.

state, in paragraph 5 of Section II. A, Present Situation, that: "Within 30 days after the determination of probable cause, the court is required to conduct a trial," (emphasis added). ¹⁵ No further mention of section 916.36/394.916 is made in this 1999 Senate Analysis, and the 1999 legislature made *no* changes to this section.

Thus, in In re Brown, supra, the Kansas Court of Appeals dealt with a situation identical to Mr. Kinder's (the Kansas respondent had not been brought to trial within the 60 days provided for in the Kansas Statute, and no continuance had been sought), "interpreted" a virtually identical statute (after which Florida's was modeled), and disposed of identical arguments from the government, stating that:

> Despite Brown's misplaced application of speedy trial rights to K.S.A.1995 Supp. 59-29a06, 16 this court must consider whether the 60-day limitation pursuant to K.S.A. 1995 Supp. 59-29a06 is mandatory or directory. The State argues that if the statute is taken as a whole, the intent is that the provision be directory. (Footnote added.)

> "In construing statutes, the legislative intention is to be determined from a general consideration of the entire act. Effect must be given, if possible, to the entire act and every part thereof. To this end, it is the duty of the court, as far as practicable, to reconcile the different provisions so as to make them consistent, harmonious, and sensible." (Citations omitted.)

¹⁵ Id. at 6.

¹⁶ Brown had contended that 60-day limit in K.S.A 59-29a06 as mandatory because the limit is intended to provide the speedy trial protection afforded criminal defendants.

When defining "shall," the State suggests the interpretation of this term should include consideration of the fact that the same provision permits the continuance of the trial. The State asserts that by providing the discretion to continue, the time limit can only be construed as directory. The State argues that the use of the term "shall" was done only to emphasize the priority of these cases for purposes of assigning cases for trial.

In construing a statute, the court must interpret the statute to give the effect intended by the legislature. (Citation omitted.) "[I]n construing statutes, statutory words are presumed to have been and should be treated as consciously chosen, with an understanding of their ordinary and common meaning and with the legislature having meant what it said." (Citations omitted.) When a statute is plain and unambiguous, the court will not speculate as to the legislative intent behind it and will not read such a statute so as to add something not readily found in the statute. (Citation omitted.)

In construing the language of K.S.A.1997 Supp. 59-29a04, another statute dealing with sexual predators, our Supreme Court held that the "75-day provision is jurisdictional, and a district court has no jurisdiction to entertain a petition filed beyond the time provided," even though the word "shall" was not used in the statute. In re Care & Treatment of Ingram, 266 Kan. 46, 49, 965 P.2d 831 (1998).

The language of K.S.A.1995 Supp. 59-29a06 is clear. The use of the term "shall" indicates the legislature mandated that the commitment trial be held within 60 days after the probable cause hearing.¹⁷ The inclusion of the language

¹⁷ Kansas section 59-29a06 reads: "Within 60 days of *any* hearing held pursuant to K.S.A. 59-29a05 and amendments thereto, the court shall conduct a trial to determine whether the person is a sexually violent predator." (Emphasis (continued...)

"[t]he trial may be continued" does not render the term "shall" discretionary. Additionally, continuance is conditional. A continuance (1) must be considered upon a motion; (2) must be granted for the purpose of due administration; and (3) cannot substantially prejudice the defendant. Neither the court nor the parties in this case filed a motion for continuance of trial. We hold that the 60-day requirement specified in K.S.A.1995 Supp. 59- 29a06 is mandatory and jurisdictional. (Footnote added.)

... [W]e have no choice but to conclude that the district court erred in denying Brown's motion to dismiss. There was no trial within 60 days and no record of any motion for continuance by the court or either party.

Brown, supra at 302-3.

In light of the facts and holding of <u>Brown</u>, and the legislative history of relating Florida's sexually violent predator act to that of Kansas, the State's mere

added.) Subsection (a) of K.S. A. 59-29a05 provides for an ex parte probable cause hearing, and subsection (b) gives the respondent a *right* to a "hearing to contest the probable cause," within "72 hours after a person is taken into custody," on such ex parte probable cause determination. Florida section 916.35/394.915, the section comparable to Kansas' 59-29a05, did not, and *does* not, give a Florida respondent a *right* to any hearing - ever. See section 394.915 (2), Resp. App. 28, p. 8. Thus, under the Kansas statute the respondent has an additional right not given to citizens of Florida. In Florida there is *no* mechanism to start the 30 day trial period running *other than* the "determination of probable cause," whether made in an ex parte hearing or at an adversarial probable cause hearing which "may" be held only "if" the trial judge finds that is "necessary," but even then with *no* time limits within which it must be held.

passing reference to the case, ¹⁸ and suggestion that cases ¹⁹ from other states with more dissimilar statutes ²⁰ should be considered while <u>Brown</u> and its rationale are essentially ignored, is neither persuasive nor even logical. This is especially true when the rationale for this position seems to be based largely, if not exclusively, on a legislative history ²¹ which relates to amendments to the original Act which in no way affected the section in question, section 394.916(1).

Nor is the Respondent's position, and that adopted in <u>Brown</u>, a departure from settled rules of statutory construction otherwise well recognized in Florida.

Thus, in Machin v. Lumber Transport, 556 So. 2d 446, 447 (Fla.1st DCA 1990), the court held that, pursuant to section 440.25(4)(c) Fla. Stat. (1987), ²² a Judge

¹⁸ See State's Initial Brief on the Merits at 17.

¹⁹ For further discussion of the cases cited by the State on this point, <u>see</u> Section III, <u>infra</u>.

²⁰ And which deal with significantly different factual situations, not as directly and immediately effecting the personal freedom and liberty interests of citizens in the same way that Mr. Kinder's liberty was, and has been, affected, and those of other citizens' *will be* if the Act is interpreted as contended by the State.

²¹ Senate Staff Analysis dated March 30, 1999 relating to the *1999 amendments* to the original Act as cited in the State's Initial Brief on the Merits at 17.

²² "As a condition of filing a notice of appeal to the District Court of Appeal, First District, an employer who has not secured the payment of compensation under this chapter in compliance with s. 440.38 shall file with his notice of appeal a good and sufficient bond...."

of Compensation Claims had no jurisdiction to provide a seven day extension of time for the appellant to file the bond after the notice of appeal had been filed because the statutory provision that the party "shall" file a bond with a notice of appeal was mandatory and jurisdictional, and in Nobile v. Nobile, 722 So. 2d 848 (Fla.1st DCA 1998), the court ruled that a petitioner's failure to comply with the requirements of section 61.132, Fla. Stat. (1997),²³ requiring that certain information "shall" be provided under oath, was sufficient to find a lack of subject matter jurisdiction.

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